A GRAND CHALLENGE FOR DEVELOPMENT



Michael Moses





Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

#### Author

Michael Moses is Director of Programs and Learning at Global Integrity.

### Acknowledgements

The author is indebted to Sue Soal, Maria Lauranti, Eka Afrina, Ah Maftuchan, Patrick Lim, Gladys Selosa, Regina Opondo, Joshua Changwony, Zipporah Abaki, Boaz Mguto, Edna Change, Kefar Mbogela, Richard Mabala, Oluwatoyin Badejogbin, Nkosihulule Nyembezi, Vanja Karth, Ian Jayson Hecita, Francisco Magno, Adrienne Alquiros, Deborah Byrne, Gontse Legong, Ria Ernunsari, Vivien Suerte-Cortez, Sanne van den Berg, Daniela Costa, Fletcher Tembo, Alison Ashling, Rosie McGee, Duncan Edwards, Jorge Florez, Cashin Yiu, Alan Hudson and Simon Ker-Fox Taylor for their partnership, support and guidance over the course of the Learning to Make All Voices Count programme.

### Reference and copyright

IDS requests due acknowledgement and quotes from this publication to be referenced as: Moses, M. (2017) Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership, Making All Voices Count Research Report, Brighton: IDS

© The Institute of Development Studies 2017



### **Contents**

Summary	4
1. Introduction	5
1.1 Background	5
1.2 The programme	5
1.3 Structure of this report	6
2. Grantee profiles	7
3. What did we learn?	9
3.1 What we learned from working adaptively: lessons on supporting citizen engagement in complex contexts, including with respect to the OGP	ent 9
3.2 What we learned about how to support adaptive ways of working: lessons on the application of adaptive learning	18
4. What does it all mean? Reflecting on L-MAVC	21
4.1 The Open Government Partnership	21
4.2 Donors and multilateral institutions	23
4.3 Practitioners	25
Appendices	26
A1. Summary of methods used	26
A2. Case stories: grantee accounts of their work as part of L-MAVC	27
References	28



### **Summary**

This report reviews the evidence from Learning to Make All Voices Count (L-MAVC), a programme funded by Making All Voices Count and implemented in collaboration with Global Integrity. L-MAVC intended to support six Making All Voices Count grantees, working in five countries, in co-creating and applying a participatory, learning-centred, and adaptive approach to strengthening citizen engagement in governance processes in their contexts, including with respect to the Open Government Partnership (OGP).

Two overarching sets of lessons emerge from the experiences of L-MAVC grantees. First, supporting citizen engagement and government accountability in subnational contexts, and localising the OGP in ways that matter to citizens, is not straightforward. Doing so successfully entails engaging with, navigating and shaping political and power dynamics in those contexts, and iteratively adapting to emerging lessons and challenges. Second, the effectiveness of adaptive ways of working depends in part on the extent to which they offer opportunities for cross-context peer learning, support the regular collection and use of data, and are themselves adaptive.

These lessons have implications for the broader community of actors working to support governance reform, including the OGP and its partners, donors and multilateral institutions, and practitioners and policy–makers. The evidence from L–MAVC suggests that if these actors are to contribute more effectively to reforms that affect citizens' lives, substantial changes – with respect to the nature of support provided to domestic stakeholders and to grant–making practices – may be warranted.

What does it mean, in practice, for domestic reformers to take a politically engaged, learning-focused and adaptive approach to governance reform?

### 1. Introduction

### 1.1 Background

An increasingly compelling body of evidence suggests that governance reform is inherently political and complex.¹ There are no one-size-fits-all solutions to governance challenges, no blueprints for reform that can be imposed by external actors, or transplanted wholesale from one context to another. Rather, attempts at encouraging reform are most likely to be successful when two conditions are met: first, local stakeholders are at the forefront of efforts to define governance challenges, develop and implement solutions, and pursue sustainable change; and second, those stakeholders have the flexibility to learn and adapt as they go, especially when working in complex political contexts.²

Despite an emerging consensus on the importance of local ownership and learning, many questions remain about the practical implications of these insights, including with regard to the Open Government Partnership (OGP).<sup>3</sup> What does it mean, in practice, for domestic reformers to take a politically engaged, learning-focused and adaptive approach to governance reform? How would external actors support such an approach?

And how might adaptive programming fit into and complement existing OGP processes, such as the National Action Plan cycle and the Subnational Pioneers Program?

### 1.2 The programme

The Learning to Make All Voices Count Initiative (L-MAVC), a programme funded by Making All Voices Count<sup>4</sup> and implemented in collaboration with Global Integrity,<sup>5</sup> was an attempt to explore and address these questions. Global Integrity partnered with Making All Voices Count staff and six Making All Voices Count grantees in Kenya, Indonesia, the Philippines, South Africa and Tanzania, to design and operationalise a participatory, learning-centred and adaptive programme management methodology that aimed to help grantees strengthen citizen engagement with governance processes, and the OGP, in their contexts.<sup>6</sup>

L-MAVC had two overarching objectives:

 At the grantee level: to strengthen their impact and effectiveness as they attempted to help citizens shape the design and implementation of OGP action plans, including in subnational districts.

- 1 See, for example, Halloran (2014), Menocal (2013) and Levy (2011), as well as the 2017 World Development Report (World Bank 2017), among many others.
- 2 These pieces by Guerzovich and Schommer (2016), Valters, Cummings and Nixon (2016), Ramalingam (2013), Booth (2011), Unsworth (2010), Andrews (2009) and Grindle (2005) are among many recent arguments to this effect.
- 3 The OGP is a multi-stakeholder initiative that "aims to secure concrete commitments from governments to promote transparency, empower citizens, fight corruption, and ... strengthen governance". For more information, visit OGP's website (nd).
- 4 Making All Voices Count, an initiative founded in 2013, aims to harness the power of emerging technologies to promote transparency, fight corruption and empower citizens in 12 priority countries in Africa and Asia. Since its inception, Making All Voices Count has aspired to support learning and action in countries, among grantees, as well as across countries, and shape the discourse on and practice of development. Beyond being financially supported by Making All Voices Count, the design and implementation of the L-MAVC programme is informed by the innovative approach Making All Voices Count has applied to its broader portfolio. For more, see the Making All Voices Count strategy.
- 5 Global Integrity supports progress towards more open governance in countries and communities across the world.
- 6 Appendix A1 provides a more detailed methodology.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

2. At the aggregate level: to generate evidence on how external actors – including Making All Voices Count, the OGP secretariat, donors, international non-governmental organisations (INGOs) and others – might provide their in-country partners with more effective support, and accelerate the emergence of transformative governance reforms, including under the auspices of the OGP.

To accomplish objective 1, we worked with grantees on an individual basis and facilitated their efforts to put cycles of adaptive learning into practice in their contexts. This meant supporting them as they iteratively:

- explored the systems in which they work, and identified and analysed the problems they wanted to solve
- framed the outcomes to which they intended to contribute
- developed a strategy for making progress towards those outcomes, including through engaging with and shaping political and power dynamics
- constructed a flexible, light-touch monitoring framework that would enable them to track their progress
- · collected and reflected on monitoring data
- made strategic course corrections in response to emerging lessons and challenges.

At every stage of this process, Global Integrity worked with grantees to rigorously document all of the above, and generate a 'living' record of their adaptive learning journeys. At the end of the programme, we supplemented this data by working with grantees to produce short, distilled case stories of their experience with L-MAVC.<sup>7</sup>

In addition to this support to individual grantees, Global Integrity facilitated comparative peer learning throughout the programme. This entailed convening a series of reflective learning workshops. Spaced regularly throughout the life of the programme, these workshops provided a structured forum in which grantees, all of whom were working in different contexts, could come together to share experiences and insights, collectively troubleshoot problems and reflect on how to make more effective progress towards their intended outcomes. Outside of these workshops, we helped grantees connect for additional experience sharing and dialogue on an ad hoc basis.

In service of objective 2, we tracked, analysed and synthesised the adaptive learning journeys undertaken by each grantee. They produced reams of data, including their documentation and case stories. This information, when combined with primary data collected by Global Integrity during regular interactions with grantees (over Skype and in person), comprises a wealth of evidence with which to generate lessons on how to more effectively make progress towards open governance, on the value and limits of learning-centred adaptive approaches, and on how such approaches might be supported. These lessons hold implications that are relevant for everyone working in governance, including the OGP.

### 1.3 Structure of this report

Section 2 introduces the grantees that participated in L-MAVC, and briefly summarises the objectives of their projects. Section 3 unpacks the key lessons from the L-MAVC experience, with regard to effectively supporting citizen engagement in governance processes linked to the OGP, and with regard to the practice of adaptive learning. Section 4 reflects on the implications of these lessons for the OGP, donors and multilateral institutions, and social accountability practitioners.

<sup>7</sup> Appendix A2 contains the individual grantee case stories.

### 2. Grantee profiles

Grantees participating in L-MAVC were selected by the Fund Management Consortium at Making All Voices Count, with some input from Global Integrity. Making All Voices Count assessed proposals on the basis of two criteria: the extent to which proposed projects linked up with, and added value to, the OGP in the applicant's country (nationally or subnationally), and the demonstrated capacity and interest of applicants in putting an adaptive learning approach into practice.8

Selections were made in August 2016 after an open, competitive application process.

Six projects were selected to participate. All winning proposals were led by civil society organisations (CSOs) involved with the OGP, and with experience in taking innovative, citizencentred approaches to governance work. Table 1 provides short project descriptions and grantee profiles.

Table 1. Grantees and projects

Grantee	Country	Organisational profile	Project description
Perkumpulan Praksarsa	Indonesia	Prakarsa, a thinktank based in Jakarta, is a leading producer of research and action on public policy. It has strong links to government officials and CSOs throughout Indonesia, and is experienced in the application of participatory action research methodologies.	Prakarsa intended to conduct participatory action research on the implementation of e-government initiatives in several subnational districts. It planned to:  • explore the experiences of those districts  • generate evidence on whether and how e-government had improved the delivery of public services  • identify the critical factors in implementing a successful e-government initiative.  Prakarsa would then use these findings to advocate for the inclusion and implementation of sound e-government commitments in upcoming policy processes, like the OGP National Action Plan.
Jesse Robredo Institute of Governance (JRIG)	Philippines	JRIG, part of De La Salle University in Manila, is well known for its work to support civil society monitoring of public service delivery, and for fostering knowledge coalitions for open governance. It has trained local officials, CSOs and universities in the use of civic tech.	JRIG intended to work with regional universities, and equip them to serve as 'infomediaries' that could support citizens and CSOs outside of Manila in learning about, engaging with and putting to use the data made available under the Bottom Up Budgeting programme (an OGP National Action Plan commitment). JRIG also intended to support broader public awareness of, and engagement with, the OGP more widely, as well as with other open government initiatives in the Philippines.

<sup>8</sup> Candidates were assessed, in part, on their completion of this form.

<sup>9</sup> Full accounts of grantee experiences on the project, that include what they learned, how they adapted, and what was accomplished, are available in the case stories appended to this report.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Grantee	Country	Organisational profile	Project description
InciteGov, Affiliated Network for Social Accountability in East Asia and the Pacific (ANSA- EAP) and the Union of Local Authorities of the Philippines (ULAP)	Philippines	Staffed by a number of crossovers', 10 InciteGov has been one of the leading players in the OGP Philippines and has done a good deal of innovative work focused on democracy and governance. ANSA-EAP has experience in piloting various tools and approaches to support citizen engagement with governance. ULAP, a union of local government units, has worked to support the implementation of various budgeting initiatives.	<ul> <li>The project team – a multi-stakeholder consortium of CSOs and local government officials – intended to:         <ul> <li>support the creation of a non-governmental OGP secretariat</li> </ul> </li> <li>pilot a participatory budgeting programme at the provincial level</li> <li>broaden awareness of participatory budgeting throughout the country.</li> <li>They planned to use these activities to expand and strengthen the participation of citizens in OGP processes, and to inform the development of the third OGP National Action Plan.</li> </ul>
Constitution Reform and Education Consortium (CRECO)	Kenya	CRECO is a network of Kenyan CSOs working on human rights, governance and democracy. It has a long record of mobilising and supporting citizen action at the community level throughout the country, and is experienced in supporting monitoring and advocacy activities.	CRECO intended to support the implementation of OGP National Action Plan commitments in two counties through training and mobilising community oversight committees in each county. They also intended to help these committees to rigorously monitor and assess the implementation of these commitments, and to use the results from that work to support advocacy around the OGP in those counties, and at the national level.
Tamasha and Oxfam	Tanzania	Tamasha is a grass- roots CSO experienced in supporting community- level participatory action research, and helping youth to hold local governments accountable. Oxfam has worked on OGP issues in Tanzania and supported citizen engagement in various ways, including through the Chukua Hatua project. <sup>11</sup>	Tamasha and Oxfam intended to support more accountable governance at the district level. They planned to gauge awareness of the OGP and open government among citizens in those districts. Then, by facilitating participatory action research, they hoped to help marginalised citizens mobilise around OGP-linked issues, and hold district officials accountable for delivering solutions to those issues. Tamasha and Oxfam also planned exchange visits for officials in Mbogwe and Kigoma, where an OGP subnational pilot project was taking place.
Democratic Governance and Rights Unit (DGRU)	South Africa	DGRU, an applied research unit at the University of Cape Town, works to support the rule of law and public accountability in South Africa. It has previously worked with community advice offices to improve the provision of legal information, and to build the capacity of community paralegals.	DGRU intended to support the implementation of an OGP National Action Plan commitment focused on the provision of access to justice. It planned to do this through distributing legal resources to community advice offices across the country, and through developing a mobile phone application (app) containing legal information that the offices could use. DGRU also hoped to coordinate other CSOs to collectively advocate for more civil society influence in the OGP process in South Africa.

 $<sup>\</sup>textcolor{red}{\textbf{10}} \text{ In the Philippines, the term `crossover' refers to individuals who have worked both as government officials and in civil society.}$ 

<sup>11</sup> More information on Chukua Hatua is available here.

The documentation and case stories produced by grantees provide detailed accounts of open government entrepreneurship in action – from challenges encountered, to lessons learned, to adaptations made and results achieved.

### 3. What did we learn?

The experiences of grantees – both in their own specific contexts and as part of the collective learning journey of L-MAVC – have generated two sets of lessons:

- What we learned from working adaptively: lessons on how domestic pro-reform actors can more effectively support citizen engagement in governance processes in the complex contexts in which they work, including with respect to the OGP.
- What we learned about how to support adaptive ways of working: lessons on the overall adaptive learning approach applied in these projects, and the factors and practices that enable and constrain learning and adaptation in and across complex contexts.

Many of the lessons and insights from these projects are consistent with the emerging evidence on the potential of adaptation in governance and development work, 12 and may not be especially surprising to those familiar with recent advances in the field. 13 That is not to say, however, that they have little to add to the current discourse.

The experiences of the L-MAVC grantees illustrate how their efforts to strengthen citizen engagement in complex contexts, including through the OGP, have played out in practice. The documentation and case stories produced by grantees provide detailed accounts of open government entrepreneurship in action – from challenges encountered, to lessons learned, to adaptations made and results achieved. The rich evidence from

L-MAVC is deeply rooted in the experiences of grantees and their partners. L-MAVC as such provides an opportunity to explore how change happens amid complexity, and for learning about whether and how adaptive ways of working, and support for those ways of working, can contribute to more effective reform efforts.

The lessons in this section, and their implications (discussed in Section 4) are therefore of great relevance to those considering how to more effectively strengthen citizen engagement and support progress towards open governance and better development outcomes. The insights that emerge from L-MAVC are particularly relevant to pro-reform actors engaging with OGP.

In the remainder of this section, we identify and explore these lessons.

### 3.1 What we learned from working adaptively: lessons on supporting citizen engagement in complex contexts, including with respect to the OGP

Lesson 1. Making the political personal is key to building resilience to political transitions

Many of the countries in which our partners work have recently experienced political transitions. These transitions have resulted in the emergence

<sup>12</sup> See work by Mercy Corps and IRC (nd), DFID's LASER programme and Derbyshire and Donovan (2016) on the SAVI programme, among others, the effectiveness of adaptive programmes.

<sup>13</sup> See, for instance, Burns and Worsley (2015) on navigating complexity, Andrews, Pritchett and Woolcock (2015) on problem-driven iterative adaptation, Faustino and Booth (2014) on development entrepreneurship, Ladner (2015) on strategy testing, Williams and Hummelbrunner (2010) on systems thinking, and Quinn Patton, McKegg and Wehipeihana's (2015) developmental evaluation methodology.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

of an increasingly populist, authoritarian-tinged strain of politics. In the Philippines, President Rodrigo Duterte has carried out a brutal war on drugs, railed against human rights advocates and threatened to kill his own son. In Indonesia, Ahok, the governor of Jakarta, was unseated by a rival riding a wave of extremist support and jailed under dubious blasphemy charges. In South Africa, a series of scandals and cabinet reshuffles have put OGP processes on hold. In Tanzania, President John Magufuli, elected in 2016, has suppressed public dissent. These events have posed challenges for our partners, and required them to adjust the ways in which they engage with political leaders.

Our colleagues at Prakarsa, for example, had initially planned to use e-government initiatives carried about by Ahok as an exemplar of well-implemented, reform-minded policy. They had also planned to encourage other political leaders to model themselves and their leadership styles after Ahok in their reform efforts. However, given Ahok's rapid fall from a successful, admired governor to a maligned prisoner, and the corresponding decline in his popularity, Prakarsa realised that relying on Ahok's personal example might drive away, not attract, other policy-makers. Prakarsa needed to adjust in light of this change to the political context, and tailor its advocacy strategies to fit with the interests of key government officials.

Prakarsa therefore decided to undertake a revised power analysis, and make sure that it was targeting the key stakeholders in government, whose influence it wanted to secure. The organisation held bilateral meetings with many of the identified officials. Rather than focusing on Ahok and other leaders of the reform processes in Jakarta, Makassar and Bojonegoro, Prakarsa emphasised the benefits of participatory e-government initiatives during these meetings. This framed their appeals with respect to the particular interests of each group of officials with whom they were speaking – these initiatives were not just examples of great leadership but, more importantly, they led to improvements in the delivery of public services.

Prakarsa also organised a national policy dialogue, bringing together citizens, CSOs and local

government officials from each of their research districts, as well as important government representatives at the national level, and the National Secretariat of Open Government Indonesia. This dialogue provided a forum for frank, multilateral discussions on the results of Prakarsa's research, including the value and pitfalls of e-government initiatives, and how the evidence it had gathered could inform policy elsewhere.

As a result, Prakarsa secured the support of numerous federal government agencies, including the ministries of National Development Planning, Home Affairs, and Communications. These ministries have agreed that Prakarsa's research findings will inform the implementation of a previously selected OGP commitment, and other government policy processes in the future.

To sum up, when faced with a change in political context, Prakarsa made the political personal. It adapted its advocacy strategy, and made sure that its engagements with key government officials were framed with an emphasis on results and performance. The organisation also mobilised a broad, multi-stakeholder coalition of reformminded supporters to place additional pressure on its advocacy targets. These adaptations enabled Prakarsa to successfully shape the design and implementation of current and forthcoming e-government initiatives across Indonesia – despite the fall of Ahok – and ensure that those initiatives accounted for the needs and interests of local citizens more effectively.

Other partners also adapted in response to political transitions, and made the political personal, with a view to winning the support of key allies. This meant identifying power brokers, learning about the incentives that govern their behaviour, and then working to reshape those incentives, including through forming and leveraging the power of multistakeholder coalitions.

In the Philippines, for example, the Duterte administration did not initially commit to remaining a member of the OGP. In response, InciteGov and ANSA-EAP launched a sophisticated lobbying campaign, bringing together subnational open government champions from various sectors,

- 14 Berehulak (2016) details the ongoing war against drugs in the Philippines.
- 15 See The Economist (2017) for more on Ahok.
- 16 See the DGRU case story in appendix A2.
- 17 See, for example, Eyakuze (2017).

Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Simply providing a stand-alone repository of tools and information was insufficient for equipping local partners to learn about and collaboratively address the issues that were important in their regions.

members of the country's OGP steering committee, and the OGP's International Secretariat to persuade the budget secretary, Benjamin Diokno, of the value of OGP membership. That campaign was successful: the administration reaffirmed its commitment to the OGP and its principles, and the Philippines recently launched its third National Action Plan.<sup>18</sup>

In Kenya, the start of the 2017 election campaign meant that all elected officials left office and began campaigning, just as CRECO's project was getting started. CRECO adapted its strategy and focused on shaping the behaviour of county-level bureaucrats rather than elected officials. By working with citizens and CSOs to gather data on the implementation of OGP commitments, and then carefully facilitating private and public meetings with individual county officials, CRECO was able to maintain pressure on locally relevant issues despite the election campaign.<sup>19</sup>

In each of these cases, grantees faced difficult political transitions that could have doomed their projects. But by identifying key stakeholders, mapping their incentives and then leveraging coalitions to shape those incentives – by tailoring political engagements to particular individuals and their individual circumstances and contexts – our colleagues were able to successfully adapt to and overcome emerging obstacles. As a result, they increased the scope and depth of subnational participation in open government processes, including processes linked to the OGP, thus helping to make the OGP more salient to local citizens.

Lesson 2. To support progress towards more open governance at the subnational level, including through the OGP, tech platforms must be informed by, and account for, the challenges, needs and interests of users working in local political ecosystems

Several of our partners in these projects initially planned to use the power of civic technology – from mobile phone apps to online dashboards to social media campaigns – to help beneficiaries learn about the OGP, and support action to open governance. Over the 12 months in which we were working, however, partners realised that their assumptions about the usefulness of tech in the contexts in which they were working were worth revisiting.

In the Philippines, JRIG, for example, planned to develop websites with tools that had been used by CSOs working on open government and the OGP in regions across the country. JRIG's thinking was that its regional university partners could then use the information provided online to help local CSOs influence local city budgets, adapt tools developed elsewhere for their own purposes, and eventually, support local participation in national-level OGP processes.

As they worked and gathered data on the needs and interests of their university and CSO partners, however, JRIG learned that not all the regional CSOs and citizens it hoped to engage could easily access or use the Internet. JRIG also came to realise that simply providing a stand-alone repository of tools and information was insufficient for equipping local partners to learn about and

- 18 The new National Action Plan features, for the first time, two commitments that were proposed and developed by citizens and subnational governments. These commitments which represent a substantial broadening of citizen participation in, and engagement with, the OGP and open government processes emerged from subnational consultations and activities undertaken by InciteGov and ANSA-EAP. Had the project partners failed to convince the new administration to reaffirm its commitment to the OGP, these commitments would not have been possible.
- 19 As discussed later in this report, these adaptations enabled CRECO to contribute to expanded citizen engagement with the OGP, and to train local open government advocates to mobilise collectively and hold local officials accountable for the implementation of OGP commitments. It is likely, though by no means guaranteed, that CRECO's work will eventually support improvements in the transparency of county assemblies and the availability and usefulness of county budget data.

Opening governance, including at the subnational level, is an iterative process of shaping those political dynamics and rebalancing power. It therefore requires local actors to constantly learn about, and adapt to, the conditions of particular political contexts.

collaboratively address the issues that were important in their regions. Offline activities that could help local partners explore the links between regional development challenges and the OGP were also necessary, as was practical support to help partners adapt and use the provided tools.

JRIG therefore continued working with its university partners to develop bespoke online knowledge platforms, but complemented these efforts by adapting its plans in two important ways:

- JRIG encouraged the emergence of formal knowledge partnerships between regional universities, CSOs and local government units, in which participants agreed to work together to open, shape and use government data in the longer term.
- JRIG decided to host a series of multistakeholder policy dialogues, bringing together universities, CSOs and local government unit officials. In these facilitated workshops, JRIG helped its partners to identify pressing local issues and develop action plans for addressing those issues, including through using the resources JRIG was helping provide.

These adaptations changed the tenor of the project substantially. The online knowledge platforms were no longer at the core of what JRIG had planned. Instead, the websites were tailored to meet the needs of local partners, and complemented by various offline activities that supported multi-stakeholder learning, action and coalition-building at the regional level.

Our partners at CRECO, DGRU and InciteGov / ANSA-EAP made similar realisations in their projects. Each of these teams adjusted the way in which they were using tech as they learned more about the needs, interests and challenges faced

by the stakeholders they aimed to support in addressing local problems.

- CRECO decided to focus on supporting offline communication, rather than build an online monitoring dashboard.
- DRGU learned that flash drives containing legal information were not as easy to use as assumed, and reassessed how it could assist community paralegals more effectively.
- InciteGov / ANSA-EAP learned that, given the emergence of online 'trolls' and bots during the recent presidential election in the Philippines, a social media campaign was unlikely to effectively support citizen engagement with the development of OGP commitments.
   Instead, they held subnational roundtables and consultations to solicit local inputs.

In all of these cases, partners found that off-the-shelf tech solutions, especially when designed in isolation from the highly specific, highly political contexts in which pro-reform actors work – were unlikely to help local users tackle concrete problems. To be useful, tech needs to be informed by a strong understanding of local contexts and the problems potential users face, at every stage of its development and use. Tech can help with solving a highly complex puzzle, but it is rarely, if ever, a solution by itself.<sup>20</sup>

### Lesson 3. Effectively localising OGP requires different approaches in different contexts

There is no blueprint for opening governance, or making the OGP work for citizens. Political dynamics and power relationships – who has power, how that power is exercised, the incentives that shape behaviour – vary from place to place. Opening governance, including at the subnational level, is an iterative process of shaping those political dynamics and rebalancing power. It

<sup>20</sup> This finding is consistent with the emerging literature on civic tech. See Edwards, Brock and McGee (2016) and Prieto-Martin, Faith, Hernandez and Ramalingam (2017).

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

therefore requires local actors to constantly learn about, and adapt to, the conditions of particular political contexts.

The L-MAVC projects demonstrated this point many times over. Each grantee began the programme aiming to strengthen citizen engagement in the OGP and make government more responsive to the challenges that citizens face. As the grantees learned more about their contexts over the 12 months of L-MAVC, and adapted to emerging lessons, challenges and shocks, their strategies for pursuing their aims evolved substantially. To effectively localise OGP, and translate it into an initiative that helps subnational reformers tackle the pressing challenges, grantees had to develop bespoke localisation approaches, or models. Over

time, grantees tailored these models to fit the particular conditions of the local contexts in which they worked. In developing and operationalising their own localisation models, grantees were able to help local pro-reform actors use OGP to more effectively tackle local problems, strengthen the influence of citizens on subnational policy-making, and pave the way for more accountable, participatory governance in the future.

Table 2 describes some of the models used by L-MAVC grantees, and sorts them into a rough typology based on the enabling factors present in particular contexts, the levels at which action took place, and the specific strategies that the grantees ultimately implemented.



Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Table 2. Localisation models in action

Model	National / subnational	Direction of action	Enabling factors	In action	Key results <sup>21</sup>
Info- mediaries enabling action (JRIG, Philippines)	Subnational (regions)	Bottom up	<ul> <li>Presence of regional universities with strong links to local CSOs, local government units and citizens</li> <li>A highly institutionalised OGP process</li> <li>Professionalised CSOs</li> <li>Existing OGP National Action Plan commitments</li> </ul>	JRIG used the existence of deeply rooted regional academic institutions, with strong links to local CSOs, governments and citizens to link OGP National Action Plan commitments and regional governance processes.  JRIG recognised the potential influence of regional universities as infomediaries that could link subnational reformers – largely excluded from OGP processes in the Philippines to date – to the OGP. JRIG identified and recruited three universities, brought them together with regional partners, and developed online and offline knowledge products and services to help those partners improve the quality of data available under OGP commitments, and to use that data to identify and tackle service delivery problems at the regional level.	As a result of JRIG's work, regional reformers from various sectors have worked together to identify key open government challenges in their contexts, signed memoranda of agreement with one another, and are in the process of using the tools and resources made available by JRIG to collaboratively improve regional public service delivery.
Vertically integrated sandwich (InciteGov / ANSA-EAP / ULAP, Philippines)	National and subnational (provinces, local government units)	Bottom up and top down (sandwich)	<ul> <li>A highly institutionalised OGP process</li> <li>Professionalised CSOs</li> <li>International reputational concerns</li> <li>Subnational open government entrepreneurship</li> </ul>	The partners used the presence of a heavily institutionalised OGP process, robust CSOs and reform-minded provincial leaders in the Philippines as leverage for taking a multi-level approach to localising the OGP, and ensuring that priorities and preferences of reformers outside of Manila were incorporated into OGP processes. At the national level, InciteGov drove the creation of a new, independent non-government OGP secretariat, to strengthen the influence of regionally based CSOs in the national OGP steering committee, and improve the scope and depth of CSO engagement with OGP processes. InciteGov also led a successful advocacy campaign to maintain the country's OGP membership.  At the provincial level, ANSA-EAP piloted a provincial participatory budgeting process, with a view to demonstrating the benefits of participatory budgeting and creating an evidence base with which to mobilise other subnational actors around open government issues, and to inform the national-level OGP process.  At the community level, ULAP presented the evidence gathered by ANSA-EAP to local governments, and helped governments to consider how participatory budgeting processes and the OGP might help them improve their delivery of public services.  In this vertically integrated model, <sup>22</sup> our partners combined top-down advocacy and coalition-building with bottom-up participation, to strengthen subnational participation in the OGP and in government more broadly.	The consortium's work contributed to the renewal of the Philippines' membership of the OGP, and to the creation of a civil society OGP steering committee.  As a result of the work by ANSA-EAP and ULAP, budgeting processes in Bohol are more citizencentred; other provinces are considering how to adapt and apply similar processes to their contexts.  The project also successfully supported the incorporation of two subnational commitments – developed through consultations with provincial and local stakeholders – into the new National Action Plan.

Subnational Evidence, National Advocacy (Prakarsa, Indonesia)	Subnational (province, city, county) and national	Bottom up	<ul> <li>National-level policy commitments</li> <li>Subnational open government entrepreneurship</li> <li>A highly institutionalised OGP process</li> </ul>	Prakarsa took advantage of the fact that Indonesia had committed to pursuing e-government at the national level, and of the presence of three subnational pioneers with deeply rooted track records on e-government. Prakarsa was able to feed the perspectives of subnational stakeholders – citizens, CSOs, and government officials, into the design and implementation of e-government initiatives across Indonesia.  Prakarsa identified three pioneering subnational districts that had carried out ground-breaking e-government reforms. It used participatory research techniques, involving local stakeholders from various sectors in those districts, to generate evidence and insights on the methods and effects of those reforms. Prakarsa then took a politically savvy approach – informed by power analysis – to sharing its research findings with key stakeholders at the national level.	As a result of Prakarsa's work, national policy-makers are now incorporating its findings into the development of plans to guide the design and implementation of national e-government policy across Indonesia, including with regard to OGP commitments.
Citizen- Generated Data + Multilevel Advocacy (CRECO, Kenya)	Subnational (counties) and national	Bottom up	National-level policy commitments     A legacy of community activism	CRECO used OGP National Action Plan commitments and a legacy of local activism to organise community members in two counties to investigate the county-level implementation of certain key commitments, and advocate for more effective implementation and better governance in those counties and across Kenya.  CRECO supported local committees in generating data on whether and how the implementation of selected commitments was proceeding, and in identifying impediments to more successful implementation. CRECO then mobilised local partners to use the collected data, lobby local government officials and encourage better implementation.  CRECO also shared the collected data with key CSO partners and relevant government officials at the national level, with a view to building a coalition that could support more effective multistakeholder OGP processes in Kenya.	CRECO's efforts have contributed to improvements in the extent to which citizens and CSOs in Makueni and Elgeyo Marakwet participate in, and engage with, OGP processes; this may lead to improvements in the county-level implementation of National Action Plan commitments. These activities have also strengthened the capacity of local activists to coordinate and engage in local advocacy.  CRECO has further supported the development of more coordinated CSO activism on OGP issues at the national level, and facilitated more cooperation between the state and civil society on national-level OGP processes. Its work may help to provide a framework for more representative, participatory and relevant OGP processes in the future.
OGP as a Spur (Tamasha / Oxfam, Tanzania)	Subnational (districts)	Bottom up	<ul> <li>National-level policy commitments</li> <li>A legacy of community activism</li> <li>Local governance structures</li> </ul>	Tamasha and Oxfam used the concept of the OGP, the fact that Tanzania had made specific commitments as part of the OGP process, and a history of local activism to mobilise community youth and women at the district level, broaden participation in local governance processes, and hold local officials accountable. They brought together groups of marginalised citizens and facilitated their exploration of whether and how local government officials had addressed (or failed to address) local problems linked to national OGP commitments. Tamasha and Oxfam then supported efforts to pressure local government officials, and develop and implement action plans for solving identified problems.	As a result of Tamasha / Oxfam's work, youth and women are far more involved in the functioning of local village assemblies. Their participation and collective action has led, in some wards, to the identification of instances in which local officials misappropriated public funds, which they have now been forced to return.  Some government officials have also acknowledged other issues – from land rights to militia violence – raised by the people's committees supported by the project, and begun to work with them to address those issues.

- 21 The compressed time frame in which these projects were implemented (9–12 months) limited our ability to conclude whether grantees achieved transformative changes in their contexts. We can, however, explore whether and how their work influenced the behaviour of the partners, beneficiaries and policy-makers whom they wanted to influence, and whose engagement with open government and the OGP they attempted to support. These micro-level outcomes may pave the way for deeper, more transformative macro-level changes in the future.
- 222 Project partners, and this analysis of the InciteGov / ANSA-EAP project, are indebted to the pioneering work of Guillán, Aceron and Fox (2016), among others who have written about vertically integrated social accountability.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

These examples demonstrate the diversity of models that our partners developed, throughout the L-MAVC programme, to localise the OGP in their contexts. None of these models, nor the way in which they were operationalised, was completely in place when the programme started in September 2016. The specific strategies that the grantees used to put these models into practice changed – sometimes quite radically – over time, as they learned what worked, and what didn't, in their local contexts.

Note that the performance of these models is a direct result of how well tailored they were to the contexts in which they were developed. The Filipino models, for example, depended on the existence of a highly professionalised civil society and a highly institutionalised OGP process, among other factors. As such, it is likely that they would have been a poor fit in the districts where our Tanzanian partners worked.

Conversely, the bottom-up, citizen-driven model of mobilisation and action undertaken in Tanzanian districts was highly dependent on socio-political dynamics and governance traditions in those districts – in particular, on a legacy of community activism, the existence of village assemblies, and the hierarchical, patriarchal way in which those assemblies are traditionally organised. As such, the 'OGP as a spur' model would be unlikely to translate effectively to the Philippines, which lacks those very specific enabling factors.

Variations in contextual conditions from place to place, even within the same country, means that none of the models described are, strictly speaking, replicable elsewhere. Nevertheless, the identification of these rough typologies of action is useful for two reasons:

 The models present 'ideal types'<sup>23</sup> that can provide a basis for pro-reform actors working

- in other contexts to consider how they might leverage OGP to address local problems, given the conditions and characteristics of their particular systems. The rough typology might help reformers reflect on which enabling factors are present in their local environments, and guide them in adapting and applying some of the models developed by L-MAVC grantees to fit their own contexts.
- 2. The experiences of grantees strongly suggest that learning and adaption is important in governance processes, including with respect to the OGP.<sup>24</sup>

Each of the models described in Table 2 emerged over time, as the grantees worked with local stakeholders, explored their assumptions, learned about their environments, and adapted. By working adaptively, grantees learned how to effectively support meaningful citizen engagement in ways that fit with their highly specific and complex contexts. Without opportunities for learning and adaptation, it is unlikely that grantees could have identified and implemented a strategy to effectively localise the OGP.

Lesson 4. Participatory processes of learning, reflection and adaptation can enable more effective pursuit of political transformation, especially in volatile and / or complex environments

The evidence from L-MAVC suggests that structured, systematic processes of learning, reflection and adaptation, which rely on rigorously collected data and incorporate beneficiary perspectives, can strengthen the ability of proreform actors to respond to unexpected changes – from political transitions to environmental disasters and unexpected changes in local power relationships – in complex environments. Grantees' experiences demonstrate this in several ways.

- 23 See Brian Levy for more on typologies of governance, and their potential use.
- 24 The absence of true counterfactuals limits the extent to which we can conclusively capture the impact of grantee projects. It does seem clear, however, that had the grantees not adapted to emerging challenges and lessons throughout their work, they would have been far less likely to contribute to improvements in the scope and depth of engagement with OGP processes, or in the salience of those processes at the subnational level. In the Philippines, for example, without the adaptations undertaken by InciteGov / ANSA-EAP, it is highly likely that the government would have withdrawn from the OGP, and that the termination of the Bottom Up Budgeting programme would have forestalled JRIG's attempts to broaden and deepen the usefulness and use of regional budget data. In Indonesia, a failure to adapt to Ahok's fall from grace would have probably doomed the project, leading to the suboptimal implementation of e-government policies in years to come. In Kenya, without CRECO's various adaptations to context challenges, the project may have been imperiled, and the OGP would likely have continued to be largely irrelevant to county-level governments. And in Tanzania, without the adaptive action undertaken by Tamasha and Oxfam, it is unlikely that government officials and village assemblies would have become more responsive to the interests and demands of marginalised citizens.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

In the Philippines, for example, the new Duterte administration abruptly discontinued the Bottom Up Budgeting (BuB) programme. This decision had serious implications for our colleagues at JRIG, who had initially intended to help regional universities to train local CSOs to support the implementation of BuB. In response, JRIG carried out a series of participatory consultations with university partners, local CSOs and local government units. These enabled JRIG to determine that, even in the absence of Bottom Up Budgeting, regional pro-reform actors wanted to improve local fiscal transparency, especially with regard to city budgets.

Accordingly, JRIG shifted its focus from BuB – which no longer existed – to supporting its partners in leveraging another Nation Action Plan commitment focusing on fiscal transparency (the Full Disclosure Policy, or FDP) to explore and improve the availability and use of city budget data. This adaptation enabled JRIG to weather the unanticipated demise of BuB. JRIG's partners are now using the resources made available as part of the project to explore and improve the use and usefulness of available budget data, and to tackle local service delivery challenges.

In Tanzania, our partners at Tamasha and Oxfam experienced unexpected changes in the exercise of power in the districts in which they were working changes that occurred, in part, because of the project itself. The response to Tamasha / Oxfam's early rounds of participatory action research (PAR) was strong - so strong that village members insisted that village assemblies select the people's committees that were charged with implementing PAR action plans. This unexpected development gave people's committees an official status for their work, and made them a formal part of the local power landscape, enabling them to exercise more influence than originally anticipated, and tackle and contribute solutions to longstanding local problems – from the misappropriation of local funds to land rights issues.

Tamasha / Oxfam have consequently been working with local partners to consider whether and how to formally incorporate these people's committees, and make them a permanent, institutionalised feature of the local governance landscape. This adaptation has required adjustments in the project's activities, but may have the effect of ensuring the sustainability of the work that Tamasha / Oxfam and partners are carrying out to strengthen the capacity of

marginalised citizens to hold local government officials to account.

In Kenya, several months into their project, our partners at CRECO encountered an unexpected spate of cattle rustling and violence in the counties in which they were working. These conditions, which emerged relatively quickly, made travel dangerous for members of CRECO's community oversight committees. Being unable to meet in person dampened the committees' ability to monitor the implementation of OGP commitments, share information with one another, and coordinate advocacy efforts. To maintain forward momentum, CRECO and the committees needed to adapt.

CRECO discovered that many committee members already used WhatsApp on a regular basis. Building on this, CRECO worked with them to form WhatsApp groups, which the members could use to communicate and coordinate until the violence had died down. This adaptive innovation, though simple, allowed them to continue gathering and sharing data on commitment implementation, and keep the project on track.

The case stories appended to this report provide additional detail of how the projects responded to unexpected changes in context. Each case story explains and describes how and why grantees adapted their strategies and, in some cases, their ways of working to enhance their ability to make progress towards supporting outcomes that mattered to local citizens. These adaptations were possible because of the structure of L-MAVC. Regularly gathering and reflecting on data, with the participation of local partners, enabled grantees to quickly identify changes in the complex conditions in which they were working, and make course corrections when necessary.

Figuring out how to successfully apply adaptive processes, however, is challenging, especially when implementers and donors are used to more traditional modes of project programming. This means that the systematic application of adaptive learning across all six grantee projects, and the support provided by Global Integrity and Making All Voices Count, also had to be adaptive: flexible enough to respond to unexpected challenges, sensitive to the needs of grantees, and yet still consistent with the expectations of donors. In Section 3.2, we discuss what we learned about supporting adaptive ways of working.

### 3.2 What we learned about how to support adaptive ways of working: lessons on the application of adaptive learning

Lesson 5. Structured, cross-context peer reflection and learning are key to supporting adaptation within specific contexts and enabling projects to strengthen their impact and effectiveness

Global Integrity hosted four peer-learning workshops over the course of the L-MAVC programme. In these, we brought representatives of all grantee organisations together in one location, dedicating between two and four days to sharing experiences, troubleshooting challenges and identifying collective insights.<sup>25</sup>

Grantees found that these facilitated opportunities for sharing and discussion were an invaluable part of their learning experience. The frank and honest exchanges that took place at workshops contributed to the emergence of a small international learning community, in which reformers working across the globe could ask one another questions, share concerns and solicit advice and guidance with respect to their incountry work. This community became a place for mutual support and dialogue about challenges, and enabled constructive exchanges that furthered grantees' capacity to overcome those challenges successfully.

The workshops were also a dedicated space for grantees to reflect on the different aspects of their specific projects, from problem statements to theories of change to gathered data, and to do so with the support of Global Integrity, Making All Voices Count and, most importantly, other grantees. The critical but supportive perspective offered by external people – all of whom were applying the same adaptive approach to their own work – helped the grantees to identify potential gaps in their project logic, uncover new lessons, and discover potential innovations and adaptations that they might apply to their own projects.

Peer learning and reflection strengthened the grantees' effectiveness, both individually and collectively. For example, learning workshop

exchanges between Tamasha / Oxfam (Tanzania) and InciteGov / ANSA-EAP (the Philippines) helped both projects to reshape their ways of working. InciteGov / ANSA-EAP pushed Tamasha / Oxfam to consider incorporating local CSOs into the process of setting up and mobilising people's committees. This advice helped the Tanzanian project to integrate their work more effectively with existing governance structures, which improved the relevance and influence of people's committees at the community level. For their part, Tamasha and Oxfam helped InciteGov and ANSA-EAP take a more inclusive, and less prescriptive, approach to citizen consultations. Tamasha and Oxfam's insights will enable their Filipino colleagues to ensure that citizens' preferences - as expressed during consultation processes – have a stronger influence on future National Action Plan commitments.

Other projects reported that they derived similar benefits from the learning workshops, and that L-MAVC's cross-country peer learning was instrumental in improving their effectiveness. The experiences of project participants strongly suggest that opportunities for learning and reflection across countries can strengthen the extent to which effective adaptation takes place in countries.

# Lesson 6. Support for adaptive processes must itself be adaptive, and responsive to the needs and capacities of those putting learning and adaptation into practice

In September 2016, Global Integrity, Making All Voices Count and the L-MAVC grantees gathered in Nairobi, Kenya, for an inception workshop. While there, we agreed on three items that would quide our work on the initiative:

- a common template to guide grantees' application of the adaptive learning methodology at the country level
- a standardised management process for the submission of progress reports and financial documents
- 3. a schedule for subsequent learning workshops.

As we put these elements of L-MAVC into place in late 2016, we gradually realised that each of items to which we agreed were not playing out quite as planned. The template needed to be more user-friendly, the grant management process needed

25 For more information on the learning workshops, see Global Integrity (2017).

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

streamlining, and reflective learning workshops were both too infrequent and too short to support the learning community we had envisioned.

So, we adapted, and continued doing so over the life of the programme. We worked with grantees to regularly update the structure of our adaptive learning documentation template, so that it really helped the grantees to monitor, learn and adapt on the ground. We simplified grant management procedures as best we could (although constraints on Making All Voices Count's flexibility meant that grantees still had to produce compliance reports). And we adjusted the schedule of the reflective learning workshops. These adaptations – which were applied to a programme premised on adaptive learning - enabled us to ensure that the support we offered to grantees was continuously tailored and re-tailored with respect to their needs. Over the course of the L-MAVC programme, grantees reported that these adaptations helped them to be more effective.

The evidence from L-MAVC suggests that modalities of support that are meant to encourage learning and adaptation among country-level partners can and do benefit from the application of data-driven participatory learning, reflection and adaptation to their own ways of working.

# Lesson 7. Traditional donor accountability procedures can constrain partners' ability to learn and adapt – even, or especially, in the context of adaptive programming

From the start, L-MAVC was an innovative programme, explicitly set up to help grantees learn and adapt as they supported citizen engagement with the OGP. Despite its intent, L-MAVC suffered from several challenges, including staff turnover at Making All Voices Count; conflicting messaging about accountability and reporting requirements; short, rigid grant and project timelines; and institutional barriers inside grantee organisations. At times, these challenges constrained the participants' ability to adapt.

Staff turnover in Making All Voices Count's country programmes and administrative offices meant that, in some cases, grantees received scant support. Making All Voices Count's country engagement developers are exceptional, hard-working

professionals, and were key sources of in-country advice and guidance for grantees. But high turnover and reductions in their working hours contributed to difficulties for some grantees trying to navigate the formidable hurdles posed by the programme's bureaucracy. Reduced hours and staff restrictions also limited the extent to which country engagement developers could consistently provide their valuable perspective and support to grantees at reflective learning workshops.<sup>26</sup>

Staff turnover also meant that the programme officers in charge of the OGP grants changed multiple times during the course of the project. New staff often (and understandably) lacked the institutional memory to quickly get up to speed on L-MAVC. Consequently, programme and financial officers sometimes requested compliance reports that were not required by the terms of the L-MAVC grants.

Conflicting messaging about accountability requirements cropped up consistently, and resulted in the misallocation of grantees' valuable time and resources. More importantly, confused communication about which reports were due when meant that many grantees experienced serious delays in their receipt of project funds from Making All Voices Count, despite having complied with the procedures that were written into their contracts. As a result, some projects – being implemented by resource-poor organisations – were forced to operate in deficit, even as the grants approached their conclusion.

The experiences of grantees suggest that short timelines restrict the space for learning and adaptation. Because of external constraints at Making All Voices Count, L-MAVC was limited to around 14 months. Contracting and disbursement delays for some grantees meant that, in practice, they had even less time – between nine and 12 months – to implement their projects. This constrained the extent to which they could fully buy into, and engage in, adaptive practice.

Finally, institutional barriers in their own organisations sometimes hindered participants' capacity to fully engage in adaptive learning processes. One grantee's learning journey was negatively affected by staff turnover, for example.<sup>27</sup> For others, their project was simply one of several

 $<sup>{\</sup>color{blue} 26} \ Some \ country \ engagement \ developers \ were \ able \ to \ attend, \ and \ made \ valuable \ contributions \ to \ two \ of \ the \ four \ workshops.$ 

<sup>27</sup> One of DGRU's two project leads left the organisation in July 2017.

Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

These projects strongly suggest that time invested in gathering and reflecting on data on three particular issues – problems, politics and outcomes – is well spent. This is especially true when facing challenges that are fundamentally political in nature.

in their organisational portfolio. Southern CSOs receiving northern funds are often set up to meet compliance-driven project management requirements. This means that one-off opportunities for adaptive programming, limited to a single project, can place extra administrative burdens on implementers. Adaptive approaches might not fit with an organisation's prevailing culture, or with its existing financial systems. Consequently, partners had to spend time and energy trying to navigate their own organisational bureaucracies in order to protect spaces for learning and adaptation.

This meant that although partners reported that adaptive learning processes contributed greatly to their ability to support progress towards open governance in their contexts, organisational impediments – many of which resulted from traditional donor accountability requirements – may limit their ability to employ similar methodologies in the future. Moving away from project-level funding, and toward more organisation / programme support, may help whole organisations become more adaptive – and more effective – over time.

## Lesson 8. Data – especially data on problems, politics and outcomes – is the fuel that powers reflective learning, adaptation and effectiveness

The collective experiences of the L-MAVC grantees are a testament to the importance of regularly collecting, using and reflecting on data in adaptive processes. These projects strongly suggest that time invested in gathering and reflecting on data on three particular issues – problems, politics and outcomes – is well spent. This is especially true when facing challenges that are fundamentally political in nature. Rich, qualitative data, generated in collaboration with local partners, seems to be especially useful.

Gathering data on problems – particularly early on in projects, and in consultation with local partners, stakeholders and beneficiaries – was key to helping the grantees understand and frame the challenges they were trying to tackle. In Indonesia, for example, consultations with local stakeholders in their study areas helped Prakarsa to understand the key issues affecting e-government initiatives, and to build a research strategy that generated insights on those issues.

In some cases, grantees' understanding of the problems they were tackling evolved over the course of the project, as they gathered more data on the issues they were confronting. Tamasha and Oxfam, for example, initially assumed that deficits in government accountability at the community level were largely a matter of awareness. Indeed, results from a baseline survey they conducted seemed to confirm this. However, by engaging more deeply with members of their target communities through participatory action research, Tamasha and Oxfam came to realise that while citizens might not have known about the OGP, they certainly understood and valued open government principles, and saw gaps in transparency and accountability in their districts. Gaps persisted not because of a lack of awareness, but because of prevailing power structures and local political dynamics that excluded youth and women from community decision-making processes. As a result of this realisation, Tamasha and Oxfam adapted their strategy to focus more on supporting collective action, rather than raising awareness of the OGP.

Data on politics was also crucial. Monitoring political dynamics throughout their projects, and tracking whether and how the implementation of their strategies were affecting those dynamics, helped grantees to learn, adapt and overcome emerging challenges, as described earlier in this

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

report.<sup>28</sup> Grantees gathered data on politics and power on a regular basis, often through participatory power analyses carried out with local partners, as well as in coordination with Global Integrity and Making All Voices Count staff at reflective learning workshops. These living, sometimes informal, analyses helped to ensure that the grantees were able to engage with and shape relevant political dynamics as they pursued change.

Finally, data on outcomes helped the grantees keep an eye on the long-term changes to which they were hoping to contribute, rather than being distracted by the delivery of outputs defined in a static log frame. Early on in their projects, grantees were encouraged to clearly define an outcome-level change goal,<sup>29</sup> framed with respect to the problems they had identified, and incorporating input from local partners. Doing this, and establishing a few simple metrics by which they could determine whether they were making progress towards that goal, helped them make timely course corrections.

For example, JRIG sought to improve the ability of universities to support citizens and CSOs outside

of Manila in taking advantage of, and effectively using, open government data. Focusing on this change goal, rather than strictly on activities and outputs, meant that when the new Duterte administration discontinued the Bottom Up Budgeting programme, JRIG was able to adapt, as it was not wedded to a set pathway of change. By remaining focused on its change goal, JRIG could shift gears in a dynamic political context. The project ended up using fiscal data available under the Full Disclosure Policy, and continued to make progress towards its goal.

These richly textured lessons cannot be understood in isolation from the experiences from which they emerged. They are the result of six highly structured, innovative and deeply rooted efforts to improve citizen engagement at the subnational (and occasionally) national level in five countries. Yet despite being very much from certain places, and tied to particular experiences, these lessons do have broader implications, especially for others working on governance and development. We discuss some of these implications in Section 4.

# 4. What does it all mean? Reflecting on L-MAVC

The findings from the L-MAVC programme are especially relevant for three audiences: (1) the OGP secretariat and its partners; (2) donors and multilateral institutions supporting governance reform; and (3) practitioners working on the frontline of open governance in countries and communities across the world. In this section, we discuss how each of these audiences might apply the lessons we have identified.

### 4.1 The Open Government Partnership

The OGP is focused on helping its member countries deliver transformative changes that matter to citizens. In recent years, the OGP has run

up against two challenges: (1) ensuring that a higher proportion of ambitious commitments in its National Action Plans are effectively implemented; and (2) making sure that commitments contribute more effectively to solving problems that citizens care about.

The OGP is tackling these challenges in a variety of ways. The Support Unit is developing a menu of support options to assist country-level reformers in developing and implementing more relevant, effective National Action Plans. And the recently expanded Subnational Pioneers programme aims to get provinces, counties and cities actively involved in OGP processes and broaden citizen engagement with the OGP. These innovations are promising, and

- 28 Prakarsa's adaptation to Ahok's fall from power is one example of this, as is InciteGov's advocacy campaign to secure the support of Secretary Diokno.
- 29 For more on the initial theories of change and change goals, see the full case stories in Appendix A2.

Data-driven, citizen-centred, reflective and adaptive learning support

– focused on supporting the development and implementation of
specific action plan commitments – could help OGP champions more
effectively engage with and shape power and political dynamics,
respond to unexpected changes in contextual conditions, and
incorporate emerging lessons into their ways of working as they go.

may help pro-reform actors more effectively leverage the platform OGP provides to deliver on changes that really affect people's lives. The lessons from L-MAVC might help OGP build on, and improve these ongoing efforts.

OGP could do so by:

### (1) expanding the provision of systematic learning and adaptation support to local OGP champions

Participation and multi-stakeholder collaboration are at the heart of the OGP model. The Subnational Pioneers programme in particular intends to help citizens and activists on the ground to shape the ways that governments function and perform. The evidence in the L-MAVC cases suggests that, all too often, participation in OGP processes - even subnational processes – is still limited, featuring isolated government champions and, at best, a few professional CSOs. This is not a bad thing; the reformers who engage with the OGP are often fiercely committed to improving government performance and addressing citizen concerns. But the limited range of individuals, organisations and agencies that participate in the OGP, and find it relevant to their goals, may limit its reach and impact.

L-MAVC grantees have all confronted this dilemma in their work. And they have, through structured processes of trial and error, and cycles of iterative learning and adaptation, learned how to support subnational citizen engagement with OGP more effectively. All the grantees have made progress towards localising OGP in their contexts.

The models suggested by grantee experiences are not one-size-fits-all blueprints. We cannot simply take InciteGov / ANSA-EAP's approach, for example, transplant it to Tanzania, replicate it, and expect to make a difference. Each grantee's localisation model is too deeply interwoven with the

specific context from which it emerged for that to be possible.

The evidence from the cases suggests that external actors can, however, do more to help local OGP champions learn how to work more effectively in their own contexts. L-MAVC demonstrates how pro-reform actors, including those at the subnational level, can benefit from structured learning journeys. Data-driven, citizen-centred, reflective and adaptive learning support – focused on supporting the development and implementation of specific action plan commitments - could help OGP champions more effectively engage with and shape power and political dynamics, respond to unexpected changes in contextual conditions, and incorporate emerging lessons into their ways of working as they go. Support for adaptive learning could help local champions develop their own localisation models.

The OGP and its partners might also benefit from further exploring how to help subnational pioneers, especially those in civil society, engage in participatory learning journeys. In doing so, the OGP could help local champions more effectively develop solutions to local problems, accelerate progress towards closing implementation gaps, and strengthen the transformative impact of OGP action plans.

### (2) providing more, and deeper, opportunities for structured comparative peer learning

The experience of the L-MAVC grantees demonstrates the value of comparative peer learning. If and when the adaptive programming laid out above, or some variant thereof, is put into to place, providing opportunities for cross-context peer learning will be a crucial component of maximising its value. Peer learning is already fundamental to the way the OGP works. Structured exchanges would build on and enhance the support

### Donors should consider reducing the emphasis on evaluation, and instead encourage grantees to focus on, and rigorously document, learning.

that the OGP already provides to its partners. Bringing together reformers that are tackling similar issues, but applying different strategies and working in different contexts, would provide opportunities to compare experiences, share lessons, troubleshoot challenges and generate shared insights. The evidence from the L-MAVC programme indicates that these kinds of exchanges can play an important role in helping reformers uncover blind spots, develop new tactics and improve their effectiveness.

These exchanges could take the form of small, facilitated, in-person workshops in regional hubs and occur at regular intervals throughout action plan cycles, or on the side-lines of previously scheduled OGP meetings. They could even take place virtually, if necessary (though this would not be ideal). The focus of exchanges, regardless of their format, should be on creating a shared community space in which participants can share, reflect, and learn together over the course of their efforts to support the design and implementation of citizen-centred action plan commitments, rather than on promoting a particular approach to be applied across different contexts.

### 4.2 Donors and multilateral institutions

In recent years, many donors and multilateral institutions have expressed interest in, and support for, adaptive programming that grapples with the complex political conditions in which governance work takes place.<sup>30</sup> Despite various pilots of adaptive approaches – from problem-driven iterative adaptation, to systems thinking, to strategy testing – more adaptive programming has yet to really take root across the governance sector.

With a few exceptions,<sup>31</sup> most donors continue to distribute support on the basis of requests for proposals, expect adherence to static, linear theories of change, and encourage monitoring and evaluation that – for understandable reasons – emphasises the

strict delivery of outputs, for the purpose of making funding recipients accountable, rather than prioritising the learning processes that are key to delivering results. Consequently, those working on the ground, who are pursuing change in complex systems, are boxed in by the constraints of traditional project and grant management, and lack the flexibility they need to adapt to emerging challenges.

The evidence from the L-MAVC programme suggests that if donors and multilaterals are serious about bolstering efforts to improve governance, change is needed. To enable more effective local learning and action that might improve the effectiveness of governance projects and programmes, and enable transformative change at the country level, donors and multilaterals should accommodate more adaptive programming at an expanded scale.

This could mean:

### (1) emphasising the learning in monitoring, evaluation and learning (MEL)

The vast majority of grants require recipients to develop monitoring and evaluation plans that focus on compliance. They encourage grantees to measure whether planned outputs were achieved, and whether predefined, quantitative targets were met. MEL systems of this sort are set up primarily to assess a project's impact, and tend to prioritise compliance with donor-mandated metrics. They set aside questions about whether 'impact' is a useful concept, or even capable of being assessed in complex, dynamic systems – in which causality is rarely linear, and never straightforward. Consequently, traditional MEL plans tend to subordinate the 'L' - learning - which, if it is captured at all, tends to occur at the end of projects and programmes, when it's too late to put that learning to use.

Donors should consider reducing the emphasis on evaluation in MEL, and instead encourage grantees to focus on, and rigorously document, learning.

<sup>30</sup> See DFID (2017), World Bank (2016) and USAID Learning Lab (nd a).

<sup>31</sup> Notably, the Omidyar Network and the Asia Foundation are taking more system-level approaches to some of their grant-making practices.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

A learning-focused system would help grantees to gather information on the context in which they are working, to regularly assess power and political dynamics, and to explore and revise their assumptions about how change happens as they go. It would focus on outcomes, not outputs, and provide space for regular, data-driven and participatory reflection, so that grantees figure out what mix of strategies and activities are likely to support progress towards those outcomes. Grantees could then make strategic course corrections throughout a project and / or programme. As part of emphasising the L, donors might do more to bring together grantees working in different contexts for comparative learning sessions. These would enable implementers to learn about, adapt and apply perspectives generated in other contexts to their own systems, while also permitting the generation and synthesis of collective insights to inform the field.<sup>32</sup>

A stronger emphasis on learning could also generate richer data on whether and how donor-financed projects and programmes support change in complex contexts. This might help donors to improve their understanding of the systems they are trying to influence, and enable them to adapt their funding strategies for maximum impact.

L-MAVC took this kind of learning-centred approach to monitoring, evaluation and learning, and the early evidence indicates that doing so strengthened the effectiveness of grantee projects, and of the programme as a whole.

### (2) operationalising flexibility in projects and funding models, including through building trust

More flexible reporting and financial procedures would free grantees from onerous compliance requirements, and give them extra latitude to focus their resources on identifying and responding more effectively to emergent features of their contexts. This wouldn't mean that donors give grantees carte blanche to expend funds without justification - rather, it would entail streamlining and reducing compliance procedures, and complementing or replacing many of those procedures with efforts to strengthen programme officers' relationships with grantees. Stronger relationships, more regular check-ins and more transparency on both sides would improve programme officers' understanding of the complex conditions in which grantees work. It would also enable both parties to work together

to reflect, capture lessons, and adapt and justify changes to budgets and project plans when warranted.

The experience of the L-MAVC grantees demonstrates the importance of flexibility and deeper relationships between donors and grantees. As previously noted, there were issues with the timely disbursement of project funds throughout the programme. But because of their strong relationships with Global Integrity, country engagement developers and programme leaders at Making All Voices Count, the grantees were able to navigate those issues successfully and continue making progress.

### (3) reducing the prevalence of technical requests for proposals, which limit local ownership and restrict space for learning and adaptation by local stakeholders

Requests for proposals – especially those developed by large institutional donors – often focus on solving problems that may be very different from the challenges local stakeholders actually face in a given context, or are framed in ways that don't align with local priorities. Applications and programmes that respond to these requests therefore end up trying to address the issues that donors have identified as important, or to comply with the donor's understanding of local problems. This may limit winning proposals' ability to address the issues that affect citizens' lives in a meaningful way.

Donors should consider simplifying requests for proposals, or doing away with them completely. Instead, they could take a more systemic approach. This would entail encouraging and / or working with local stakeholders, helping them to submit proposals in which they describe processes for identifying, learning about and solving local problems, including in partnership with intended beneficiaries. The L-MAVC application process, while imperfect, followed this basic approach. And, as evidenced by L-MAVC, the adaptive programming that emerges from learning-focused calls could help grantees define and tackle problems that really matter, establish a framework for supporting learning processes, and enable donors to generate evidence on the particular aspects of systems change they are best placed to pursue.

<sup>32</sup> This sort of initiative would benefit from building on the example provided by the Transparency and Accountability Initiative (2015), the TWP Community of Practice (nd) and DDD Manifesto Community (nd) communities of practice, among others.

These projects offer proof of concept demonstrating that locally led, problem-driven, adaptive approaches to governance work can, in some cases, strengthen the resilience and capacity of local actors and help them more effectively support citizen engagement in governance processes linked to the OGP.

These sorts of changes, if taken to scale, would fundamentally reorient how power is held and exercised in most funding agreements. Programme officers would be more like partners than managers; power and agency would be more evenly distributed between donors and grantees as they engage in shared learning journeys together.

Without radical changes, it seems unlikely that the governance sector will effectively harness the potential of adaptive programming. Indeed, the experience of the L-MAVC grantees demonstrates the difficulty of applying adaptive approaches in a landscape in which the majority of funding is distributed on the basis of requests for proposals developed in donor offices, and in which prevailing donor–grantee relationships encourage dogmatic adherence to donor priorities, even in complex, dynamic, political contexts.

When donor systems and procedures do not emphasise learning and adaptation among their partners on a consistent basis, institutional hurdles can sometimes affect even adaptive pilots. And when grant recipients have to integrate one-off adaptive projects with more traditional programming, organisational barriers can constrain the extent to which they are able to learn, react and adapt.

Scaling-up more adaptive programming might help to remove these obstacles, by creating a virtuous circle in which grant recipients are able to apply principles of learning and adaptation across their entire portfolios, and develop new institutional ways of working. The same could be said for donors. Rather than being a sideshow, an exception to the traditional rules, and therefore forced to integrate into traditional administrative procedures, adaptive programming could become the rule itself.

It is important to acknowledge that the L-MAVC projects are small pilots, oriented around a specific initiative and supporting small-scale efforts to

strengthen citizen engagement in the OGP. They do, however, offer proof of concept, demonstrating that locally led, problem-driven, adaptive approaches to governance work can, in some cases, strengthen the resilience and capacity of local actors and help them more effectively support citizen engagement in governance processes linked to the OGP, and all this despite the institutional and funding constraints grantees faced in the programme.

Rolling out these sorts of principles more broadly, and applying them to more governance projects, would enable donors to test whether and how adaptive programming can strengthen their systems-level impact and effectiveness, as well as that of their grantees.

### 4.3 Practitioners

Finally, the experience of the L-MAVC grantees have a few implications for practitioners – both northern and southern, from international NGOs and domestic civil society organisations – working on governance issues amid complexity. These include:

#### (1) listening

Make sure that governance work is informed by, and done in partnership with, citizens and organisations living and working in the targeted context. The experiences from the L-MAVC programme demonstrated, many times over, that local stakeholders have the best perspective on which problems need solving, on relevant political dynamics, and whether and how efforts are contributing to outcomes. For change to be sustainable in the long term, the perspectives and values of those working at the grass roots need to be at the heart of reform processes.

#### (2) participating

Ensure that projects and programmes build in space for participation by the stakeholders they aim to support. The evidence from L-MAVC

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

suggests that participation by local stakeholders can enable productive learning and adaptation that otherwise might not occur. Take advantage of opportunities for cross-context peer learning, should they exist. Pursue modes of development programming that encourage participatory monitoring and learning, and allow for strategic adaptation at regular intervals throughout a project or programme cycle.

#### (3) holding donors accountable

Try to make sure that reality, in all its messy complexity, is presented to donors. Mistakes are going to happen; so are failures. But documenting

the full gamut of on-the-ground experiences, and carefully explaining adaptations made in response to emerging challenges, will help donors to better understand the complex conditions in which reform efforts take place. More realistic, datadriven accountability may help donors and other external actors evolve, and do more to make sure that local change agents are at the forefront of efforts to open governance. In the long term, this kind of evolution could reshape the governance sector, and development more broadly, enabling domestic stakeholders to learn and adapt their way to sustainable, transformative reforms that fit in their contexts.

### **Appendices**

### A1. Summary of methods used

As noted in the introduction to this report, L-MAVC was motived by two objectives:

- At the grantee level: to strengthen their impact and effectiveness as they attempted to help citizens shape the design and implementation of OGP action plans, including in subnational districts.
- At the aggregate level: to generate evidence on how external actors – including Making All Voices Count, the OGP secretariat, donors, INGOs and others – might provide their in-country partners with more effective support, and accelerate the emergence of transformative governance reforms, including under the auspices of the OGP.

Our methodological approach was informed by various emerging methods that aim to support politically aware, contextually grounded and problem-focused development practice, including action research,<sup>33</sup> problem-driven iterative

adaptation,<sup>34</sup> strategy testing,<sup>35</sup> adaptive management<sup>36</sup> and more.<sup>37</sup>

All these approaches emphasise, to varying degrees, the importance of participation, collection and use, in iterative cycles, of monitoring data, reflection and adaptation in development work. By combining aspects of various strands of thinking into one framework, we intended to provide flexible, consistent guidance to support the L-MAVC grantees in their work to strengthen citizen engagement in OGP (objective 1), and generate the evidence needed for a compelling and useful synthesis of grantees' learning journeys (objective 2).

In support of objective 1, Global Integrity served as a sounding board for advice and guidance as the grantees implemented their activities, collected evidence and reflected on how their theories of change were playing out in practice. This meant that we supported grantees as they:

 explored the systems in which they work, and identified and analysed the problems they wanted to solve

- 33 See, among others: Burns (2014); Popplewell and Hayman (2012); Mikkelsen (2005); Newman (2000); and Pettit and Guijt (nd).
- 34 For more on problem-driven iterative adaptation, see: Andrews, Pritchett and Woolcock (2015); Unsworth (2010); Rodrik (2008); and Ostrom (2005). Faustino and Booth (2014) argue for a similar approach.
- 35 Ladner (2015) is a good resource on strategy testing. For an alternative, though similar approach, see van Zyl (2011).
- 36 Valters, Cummings, and Nixon (2016) describe the importance of adaptive management and lay out some ways in which it can be implemented. Ørnemark (2016) is also useful on this topic, as are Proud, Willett, Westerman and Kurtz (2015). The USAID Learning Lab (nd b) outlines some features of adaptive organisations, while the Doing Development Differently (nd) manifesto highlights the importance and usefulness of adaptive approaches.
- 37 Hudson, Marquette and Waldock (2016) outline some of the important features of politically informed approaches to supporting reform. Booth (2016) digs into politically aware flexible programming. Davies (2016) and Valters (2014) provide useful reflections on using theories of change.

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

- framed the outcomes to which they intended to contribute
- developed a strategy for making progress towards those outcomes, including through engaging with and shaping political and power dynamics
- constructed a flexible, light-touch monitoring framework that would enable them to track their progress
- collected and reflected on monitoring data
- made strategic course corrections in response to emerging lessons and challenges.

Using the flexible adaptive learning template, which was co-created early in the programme and subsequently adapted at various points, the grantees documented their learning journeys on a regular basis. These tracking documents included monitoring data, records of their reflection sessions, and revisions to problem statements, contextual dynamics and theories of change, as well as justifications for those revisions.

These rich documents served as a foundational element of short case stories produced by grantees, in collaboration with Global Integrity, in and after the final reflective learning workshop in September 2017. Each case story explores a given grantee's learning journey, including key learning moments, outcomes and achievements, and the grantee's reflection on and assessment of the adaptive approach applied in L-MAVC. These accounts offer an evidence-based synthesis of each grantee's experience in L-MAVC. Global Integrity has cross-referenced these stories with our own data and insights.

In support of objective 2, we reviewed and analysed the documentation, case stories and evidence produced by grantees and their partners throughout their projects, as well as the data, insights and reflections generated and captured at each reflective learning workshop,<sup>38</sup> and the multitude of records maintained by Global Integrity throughout the L-MAVC programme.

Next, taking a realist-synthesis inspired approach, we investigated: whether / how grantees made progress towards supporting citizen engagement in the OGP in their contexts; whether / how the

adaptive process we developed and applied contributed to grantee effectiveness; and under which conditions it might have done so. This synthesis report – and other synthesis products developed as part of L-MAVC – is therefore sourced from an analysis of rich, evidence-based accounts of grantee efforts to support change. As such, they contribute rigorous, validated and actionable insights into whether / how external actors, from donors to multilateral initiatives to INGOs and the OGP, might better support locally owned efforts to strengthen citizen engagement and government accountability.

Materials from this project will continue to be made available through various fora and media, in the hope that the varied experiences of citizen engagement and learning featured in L-MAVC become more widely used, and the lessons incorporated into the discourse, policy and practice of those seeking to transform open governance.

# A2. Case stories: grantee accounts of their work as part of L-MAVC

- Making hay while the sun shines: working with opportunities and adapting to constraints – a case study on universities and knowledge partnerships for open government in the Philippines (JRIG)
- Responding to reality: people, politics and technology in facilitating local involvement in OGP – a case study from the Philippines (InciteGov / ANSA-EAP)
- Voiceless voices made loud: Opening open governance – a case study from the Constitution and Reform Education Consortium (CRECO) in Kenya
- Testing the claims of e-government through engagement: a case study from Indonesia (Prakarsa)
- 5. Evaluating and shaping engagement on OGP a case story from Tanzania (Tamasha / Oxfam)
- 6. Revisiting assumptions about technology a case story from the Democratic Governance and Rights Unit (DGRU) in South Africa
- 38 This is especially true of the final reflective learning workshop, held in Brighton, UK, in September 2017, at which the grantees had the opportunity to practice synthesis in relation to their own learning journeys, to support each other in refining these, and to engage in collective synthesis and sense-making about the L-MAVC journey as a whole. This was of value to these individuals, as well as to the synthesis process, because by working collectively, we generated deeper insights in a participatory fashion. The data and sense-making generated in the final learning workshop was a form of actor validation for the findings in this report.

### References

Andrews, M. (2009) 'Good Government Means Different Things in Different Countries', *Governance* 23.1: 7–35, https://governancejournal.net/2010/01/12/andrews-good-government-means-different-things-in-different-countries (accessed 27 October 2017)

Andrews, M.;, Pritchett, L. and Woolcock, M. (2015)
Doing Problem Driven-Work, CID Working Paper
307, Cambridge, MT: Center for International
Development at Harvard University, http://bsc.cid.
harvard.edu/files/bsc/files/doing\_problem\_driven\_
work\_wp\_307.pdf (accessed 7 October 2017)

Berehulak, D. (2016) 'They Are Slaughtering Us Like Animals', New York Times, 7 December, www. nytimes.com/interactive/2016/12/07/world/asia/rodrigo-duterte-philippines-drugs-killings.html (accessed 27 October 2017)

Booth, D. (2016) Politically Smart Support to Economic Development, ODI Insights, London: Overseas Development Institute, www.odi.org/ sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/10359. pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Booth, D. (2011) 'Governance for Development in Africa: Building on What Works', *Africa Power and Politics Policy Brief 01*, London: Overseas Development Institute, www.institutions-africa. org/filestream/20110406-appp-policy-brief-01-governance-for-development-in-africa-building-on-what-works-by-david-booth-april-2011 (accessed 27 October 2017)

Burns, D. (2014) Assessing Impact in Dynamic and Complex Environments: Systemic Action Research and Participatory Systemic Inquiry, Centre For Development Impact Practice Paper, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, www.ids.ac.uk/publication/assessing-impact-in-dynamic-and-complex-environments-systemic-action-research-and-participatory-systemic-inquiry (accessed 27 October 2017)

Burns, D. and Worsley, S. (2015) Navigating Complexity in International Development: Facilitating Sustainable Change at Scale, Rugby: Practical Action Publishing, www.ids.ac.uk/publication/navigating-complexity-in-international-development-facilitating-sustainable-change-at-scale (accessed 27 October 2017)

Davies, R. (2016) Evaluating the Impact of Flexible Development Interventions Using a 'Loose' Theory of Change, London: Overseas Development Institute, https://richardjdavies.files.wordpress.com/2009/08/working-with-loose-toc-final.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Derbyshire, H. and Donovan, E. (2016) Adaptive Programming in Practice: Shared Lessons from the DFID-funded LASER and SAVI Programmes, London: UK Department for International Development, http://savi-nigeria.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/08/Laser\_Savi\_Report-online-versionfinal-120816pdf.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

DFID (2017) Smart Rules: Better Programme
Delivery, Version VIII, London: UK Department
for International Development, www.gov.uk/
government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_
data/file/649230/smart-rules-update-externaloct17.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

DFID LASER (nd) 'Our approach', DFID LASER website, London: UK Department for International Development, http://dfidlaser.org/our-approach (accessed 27 October 2017)

DDD Manifesto Community, 'Doing Development Differently', http://doingdevelopmentdifferently.com/ (accessed 20 November 2017)

Doing Development Differently (nd) 'The DDD Manifesto', Overseas Development Institute, www. odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/events-documents/5149.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Eyakuze, A. (2017) 'After Six Hundred Days of President Magufuli, Whose Government is it Anyway?', LinkedIn post, 16 July, www.linkedin. com/pulse/after-six-hundred-days-presidentmagufuli-whose-anyway-aidan-eyakuze/ (accessed 27 October 2017)

Faustino, J. and Booth, D. (2014) Development Entrepreneurship: How Donors and Leaders Can Foster Institutional Change, Working Politically in Practice Series – Case Study No. 2, San Francisco, CA: The Asia Foundation, and London: Overseas Development Institute, https://asiafoundation.org/resources/pdfs/DEODITAFWPIP2.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Global Integrity (2017) Learning to Make All Voices Count, Global Integrity, www.globalintegrity.org/multi-stakeholder-governance-initiatives/learning-to-make-all-voices-count (accessed 27 October 2017)

Global Integrity (nd) Global Integrity website, www. globalintegrity.org (accessed 27 October 2017)

Grindle, M.S. (2005) Good Enough Governance Revisited, Report for DFID, London: Overseas Development Institute, www.odi.org/sites/odi.org. uk/files/odi-assets/events-documents/1281.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Guerzovich, F. and Schommer, P.C. (2016) Four Ways in Which Social Accountability and Open Government Interventions Bridge the State and Society, ISTR's Working Paper Series, Baltimore, MD: International Society for Third-Sector Research, http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.istr.org/resource/resmgr/WP\_Stockholm/Guerzovich\_ Schommer\_Bridges.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Guillán, A.; Aceron, J. and Fox, J. (2016) Doing Accountability Differently: A Proposal for the Vertical Integration of Civil Society Monitoring and Advocacy, Bergen: Chr. Michelsen Institute, www.u4.no/publications/doing-accountability-differently-a-proposal-for-the-vertical-integration-of-civil-society-monitoring-and-advocacy (accessed 27 October 2017)

Halloran, B. (2014) 'Thinking and Working Politically in the Transparency and Accountability Field', Think Piece, Washington, DC: Transparency and Accountability Initiative, www.transparency-initiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/thinking-and-working-politically-may-2014.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Hudson, D.; Marquette, H. and Waldock, S. (2016) 'Everyday Political Analysis', Developmental Leadership Program, http://publications.dlprog. org/EPA.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Ladner, D. (2015) 'Strategy Testing: An Innovative Approach to Monitoring Highly Flexible Aid Programs', Working Politically in Practice Series – Case Study No. 3, San Francisco, CA: The Asia Foundation, https://asiafoundation.org/resources/pdfs/AnInnovativeApproachto MonitoringHighlyFlexibleAidPrograms.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Levy, B. (2011) 'South Africa's Democracy: Complexity Theory in Action', World Bank Blog, 15 December, http://blogs.worldbank.org/governance/south-africas-democracy-complexity-theory-in-action (accessed 27 October 2017)

Edwards, D.; Brock, K. and McGee, R. (2016)
Transforming governance: what role for
technologies? Learning Event Report, Brighton: IDS,
https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/
handle/123456789/11675/MAVC\_Transforming\_
Governance\_final.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Menocal, A.R. (2013) 'Transparency and Accountability: Bringing the Politics Back In', World Bank Blog, 21 May, http://blogs.worldbank.org/governance/transparency-and-accountability-bringing-politics-back (accessed 27 October 2017)

Mercy Corps and IRC (nd) Adaptive Management in Practice: Lessons from the Field, Portland, OR: Mercy Corps, and New York, NY: International Rescue Committee, https://drive.google.com/file/d/088mP30ZG9NzSU2xfVV9Jb0pLNUsweXJnbVN4ZjhuY3cydkNZ/view (October 27, 2017).

Mikkelsen, B. (2005) Methods for Development Work and Research: A New Guide for Practitioners, New Delhi: SAGE Publications

Newman, J.M. (2000) 'Action Research: A Brief Overview', *Forum: Qualitative Social Research* 1.1: Art. 17, www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/ fqs/article/view/1127/2507 (accessed 27 October 2017)

Ørnemark, C. (2016) 'Learning Journeys' for Adaptive Management – Where Does it Take Us?, GPSA Note 12, Washington, DC: Global Partnership for Social Accountability, http://gpsaknowledge.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/NOTE\_march.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

OGP (nd) 'About OGP', OGP website, Washington, DC: Open Government Partnership, www. opengovpartnership.org/about/about-ogp (accessed 27 October 2017)

Ostrom, E. (2005) *Understanding Institutional Diversity*, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, http://assets.press.princeton.edu/chapters/s8085.pdf (accessed 30 October 2017)

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Patton, M.Q.; McKegg, K. and Wehipeihana, N. (eds) (2015) *Developmental Evaluation Exemplars: Principles in Practice*, New York, NY: Guildford Press, www.guilford.com/books/Developmental-Evaluation-Exemplars/Patton-McKegg-Wehipeihana/9781462522965/summary (accessed 27 October 2017)

Pettit. J. and Guijt, I. (nd) Sample Learning Event 3: Learning Trajectory on Power, Powercube.Net, www. powercube.net/wp-content/uploads/2009/11/ sample\_workshop3.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Popplewell, R. and Hayman, R. (2012) 'Where, How, and Why are Action Research Approaches Used by International Development Non-Governmental Organisations?', *INTRAC Briefing Paper 32*, Oxford: International NGO Training and Research Centre, www.intrac.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Briefing-Paper-32-Where-how-and-why-are-Action-Research-approaches-used-by-international-development-non-governmental-organisations-2-1.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Prieto-Martin, P.; Faith, B.; Hernandez, K. and Ramalingam, B. (2017) *Doing Digital Development Differently: Lessons in Adaptive Management from Technology for Governance Initiatives in Kenya*, Brighton: IDS, https://opendocs.ids.ac.uk/opendocs/bitstream/handle/123456789/13285/MAVC\_DDD\_RR\_(Pr4)Final\_WEB.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Proud, E.; Willett, B.; Westerman, B. and Kurtz, J. (2015) Managing Complexity: Adaptive Management at Mercy Corps, Portland, OR: Mercy Corps, www.mercycorps.org/sites/default/files/Adaptive%20management%20paper\_external.pdf (accessed 30 October 2017)

Ramalingam, B. (2013) *Aid on the Edge of Chaos*, Oxford: Oxford University Press

Rodrik, D. (2008) 'Second-Best Institutions', American Economic Review 98:100–104, https://drodrik.scholar.harvard.edu/files/dani-rodrik/files/second-best-institutions.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017) The Economist (2017) 'An Unfair Trial Leaves Chinese-Indonesians Feeling Vulnerable', 13 May, The Economist, www.economist.com/news/asia/21721967-basuki-tjahaja-purnama-jakartas-governor-jailed-two-years-unfair-trial-leaves (October 27, 2017).

TWP Community of Practice (nd) TWP Community of Practice website, Thinking and Working Politically Community of Practice https://twpcommunity.org (accessed 27 October 2017)

Transparency and Accountability Initiative (2015) 'TALEARN: Taking on Big Challenges for the Field and Putting our Learning into Practice', Washington, DC: Transparency and Accountability Initiative, www.transparency-initiative.org/archive/news/talearn-taking-on-big-challenges-for-the-field-and-putting-our-learning-into-practice (accessed 27 October 2017)

Unsworth, S. (2010) *An Upside Down View of Governance*, IDS News, 28 April, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, http://www.ids.ac.uk/files/dmfile/Upside.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

USAID Learning Lab (nd a) 'Collaborating, Learning, and Adapting (CLA)?', Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development, https://usaidlearninglab.org/faq/collaborating-learning-and-adapting-cla (accessed 27 October 2017)

USAID Learning Lab (nd b) 'Collaborating, Learning, and Adapting Maturity Matrix', Washington, DC: United States Agency for International Development, https://usaidlearninglab.org/sites/default/files/resource/files/clamaturitymatrix\_handout\_20151130.pdf (accessed 30 October 2017)

Valters, C. (2014) Theories of Change in International Development: Communication, Learning, or Accountability?, JSRP Paper 17, London: London School of Economics, www.lse. ac.uk/internationalDevelopment/research/JSRP/downloads/JSRP17.Valters.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

Valters, C.; Cummings, C. and Nixon, H. (2016) Putting Learning at the Centre: Adaptive Development Programming in Practice, London: Overseas Development Institute, www.odi.org/ publications/10367-putting-learning-centreadaptive-development-programming-practice (accessed 27 October 2017)

van Zyl, A. (2011) The Super Duper Impact Planning Guide, Washington DC: International Budget Partnership, www.internationalbudget. org/wp-content/uploads/Super-Duper-Impact-Planning-Guide.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)

Williams, B. and Hummelbrunner, R. (2010) Systems Concepts in Action: A Practitioner's Toolkit, Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, www.sup. org/books/title/?id=18331 (accessed 27 October 2017) World Bank (2017) World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law, Washington, DC: World Bank, www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2017 (accessed 27 October 2017)

World Bank (2016) Making Politics Work for Development: Harnessing Transparency and Citizen Engagement, Washington, DC: World Bank, documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/268021467831470443/pdf/106337-revised-PUBLCI-Making-Politics-Work-for-Development.pdf (accessed 27 October 2017)



### Learning to Make All Voices Count: Lessons and reflections on localising the Open Government Partnership

### **About Making All Voices Count**

Making All Voices Count is a programme working towards a world in which open, effective and participatory governance is the norm and not the exception. It focuses global attention on creative and cutting-edge solutions to transform the relationship between citizens and their governments. The programme is inspired by and supports the goals of the Open Government Partnership.

Making All Voices Count is supported by the UK Department for International Development (DFID), the US Agency for International Development (USAID), the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and the Omidyar Network, and is implemented by a consortium consisting of Hivos, IDS and Ushahidi.

### Research, Evidence and Learning component

The programme's Research, Evidence and Learning component, managed by IDS, contributes to improving performance and practice, and builds an evidence base in the field of citizen voice, government responsiveness, transparency and accountability (T&A) and technology for T&A (Tech4T&A).

### **About Global Integrity**

Global Integrity champions transparent and accountable governance around the world by producing innovative research and taking action to inform, connect, and empower civic, private, and public reformers seeking more open societies. Undergirding our work is the knowledge that governance reform is inherently political and complex, and that there are thus few, if any, cookie cutter solutions to governance-related challenges. As such, we acknowledge that any efforts to drive progress toward more open, accountable and effective governance must be led by local stakeholders, navigating and shaping the political dynamics in their own particular contexts.

We support local stakeholders, including both government and civil society, with our assistance in putting adaptive learning – a structured, data-driven, problem-focused and iterative approach to learning by doing, which engages with local political realities while drawing on experiences from elsewhere – at the heart of their efforts to design and implement effective governance reforms. This helps reformers close the gaps between policy commitments and implementation and contributes to better governance and development outcomes. Further, we seek to support and enhance the effectiveness of other key players in the governance arena by sharing the insights generated from our innovative and exploratory work with local partners.

Web www.makingallvoicescount.org Email info@makingallvoicescount.org

Twitter @allvoicescount

Disclaimer: This document has been produced with the financial support of the Omidyar Network, SIDA, UK aid from the UK Government, and USAID. The views expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the official policies of our funders.

This work is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original authors and source are credited. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/legalcode









Implemented by:





